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Prologue

Boxing Day, 1869. A Sunday. Snow lay thick on the ground, thick on the cathedral roof, thick on the stout castle ramparts. For days a bitter east wind had blown from the Pennines across the Eden plain, scudding across the heavily swollen waters of the river Caldew, splitting the opaque black surface into even darker ripples. There was a deathly silence in this snow-muffled night-time city of Carlisle except for the boom of the cathedral bells every four hours, a most sombre sound which carried far outside the city boundaries to the outlying Cumberland villages. The dawn that day was crude, the violent red of the suddenly lightening sky lurid against the startling white of the new snow, against the grim black of the many factories and mills in the district of Caldewgate. All of wide, wide Church Street was one mass of unbroken, crusty white and the side streets leading off it were silted up with snow. Where, in sheltered spots, cobbles showed through, these glistened with ice.

In a house in one of these turnings, John Street, a young woman, nineteen years old, was giving birth to her first child. The woman’s name was Annie Jordan. She called her baby Margaret Ann. Three months later she had her daughter baptized in the church of St Mary. Not quite two years after that Annie Jordan died, aged twenty-one, leaving Margaret Ann an orphan.

*

The month of May, 1936. A Saturday morning in Raffles, the big new council estate on the west side of Carlisle where the poor of Caldewgate had been rehoused. Men were out in their gardens ferociously trimming hedges which were just beginning to mature, diligently mowing lawns now at last smooth and green, the weak growth of the first few years forgotten. Number 44 Orton Road was on a corner, facing the bus stop opposite, but the woman didn’t come on a bus. She came by car. Cars were rare on the Raffles estate. When the black car pulled up outside number 44 it was assumed by those watching, and many were, if in an idle fashion, that a doctor would step out. But no doctor had been sent for. Instead, an elderly woman, short of stature and dressed in black, veil included, emerged and walked up the short path to the green door.

She knocked and waited. The door was opened by a graceful-looking young woman who looked startled to find anyone standing there. The visitor politely inquired if she was correct in believing Margaret Ann Hind lived here. The young woman said she was, that Mrs Hind was her own mother. The visitor asked if, in that case, she might have a few words with Mrs Hind? The young woman, Lilian, hesitated. It was rude to keep anyone on the doorstep but some instinct told her that it would be better if her mother was warned first. She didn’t want to show this visitor straight into the living-room where Mrs Hind was sitting with her grandson Gordon, aged four, on her knee. So, with an apologetic smile, and wishing there was either a hall or a parlour where this woman could wait, she said she would go to get her mother.

Margaret Ann Hind, told there was someone at the door wanting her, lifted Gordon off her knee and stood up. She had grown a little stout in her sixties but she carried herself so well, as straight backed as Queen Victoria, that it became her. She had a welcoming expression on her face but when she reached the tiny vestibule and saw her visitor it vanished. She seemed to freeze. She put out a hand to steady herself. Lilian saw that, for whatever reason, her mother was shocked and such shocks were to be avoided. Margaret Ann had suffered from angina for the past decade and the doctor had warned her to guard against agitation of any kind. But as Lilian, hovering in the background, asked if her mother was all right, Margaret Ann seemed to rally, to control whatever emotion she was feeling. She did not address this stranger by name but merely said to Lilian that she would take her visitor upstairs and began to lead the way. The stairs opened straight up from the vestibule. They led to two bedrooms, one occupied by Lilian and her husband Arthur and their son Gordon, and one by Margaret Ann herself. She was in the process of selling her house, though she had not yet emptied it of her furniture since she had not yet decided where she would live. Always in awe of her mother, Lilian did not protest, though it embarrassed her to realize there was no chair in her mother’s bedroom upon which a visitor could sit. It was no place for a guest.

Lilian went back into the small living-room where Gordon was still looking at the picture-book his grandmother had been showing him. Arthur was in the garden, preparing the ground for his bedding plants. Soon he would take Gordon to visit his other grandmother and his grandfather. Lilian began to get Gordon ready. She had a sense of foreboding, but then she very often did. There was a fire burning in the black-leaded range even though it was May, and she warmed Gordon’s jacket at it. Then she dressed him in it and sat him on her knee, taking up the picture-book again and waiting for Arthur to come in and say he was ready. She could hear no sound from upstairs, not even the low hum of voices. She wondered if the two women were sitting side by side on the double bed. Were they whispering? It would be cold up there. It was a cold morning even if it was spring. A long time seemed to go by. Gordon became impatient. Finally, she went out to see how long Arthur was going to be. He was just finishing his digging. While he washed his hands in the kitchen sink she told him about her mother’s visitor and how worried she was because her mother had seemed alarmed.

Arthur delayed his departure long enough to see Mrs Hind’s guest leave. He stood back from the window, well back, and watched. The woman looked perfectly respectable, quite unthreatening, to him. What was the fuss? He admired the car. He was a mechanic and knew about cars. He couldn’t see who was driving, just that the woman got into the back seat and was driven away without either a wave or look. Arthur set off, with Gordon, to visit his parents, not at all disturbed, and impatient with Lilian for being so. Worrying was a bad habit of hers.

When he had gone, Lilian went upstairs, wondering what had happened. She tapped on her mother’s closed door and said, ‘Mother? Are you all right?’ There was silence. It frightened her, and this time, as she tapped again, she opened the door a little and peeped round it. Her mother was lying on the bed, her eyes closed, clutching a handkerchief. The constant kneading of this handkerchief was the only sign she was not asleep. ‘Can I get you a cup of tea?’ Lilian asked, and then, ‘Shouldn’t you take a pill now?’ Her mother turned her face away, but not before Lilian had seen she was weeping, and said, ‘Leave me. I’m resting. I’ll come down presently.’

Presently turned out to be eight hours later. When Margaret Ann did come down she never once referred to her visitor or anything that had been said. Nothing. No explanation whatsoever. And Lilian, remarkably, never asked a single question. She was too afraid of her mother’s evident distress to have the heart to pry. She saw how pale her mother was, how tired and sad, how defeated she seemed and it was too painful to probe. Margaret Ann drank some tea, ate some toast, then went back up to bed. Almost three months later she died, quite suddenly, and throughout that period there was an unhappiness about her which never seemed to lift.

The same year, 1936, 22 July. A hot day, most unsuitable for a funeral. It seemed so inappropriate to be standing at a graveside when the sky was a holiday blue and the sun shone so festively. It would have felt better to the mourners if it had been raining, if the weather had remained as unseasonably dreary as it had been three days earlier, the actual day Margaret Ann died.

Died quickly, dramatically, with Gordon sitting on her knee, shelling peas, slitting the pea pods open for him and letting him pop half the peas into his mouth. Arthur was at work, Lilian in the kitchen washing dishes. Gordon suddenly cried out. He didn’t know what had happened, only felt the rim of the metal colander, into which the peas were supposed to go, dig painfully into his fat little tummy, pushed forward by the weight of his grandmother’s slumping on top of him as she collapsed without a sound. Gordon struggled and cried and the budgerigar flapped wildly in its cage in a panic. It was the bird Lilian heard, and she came through from the kitchen, hands still wet. She saw Gordon red-faced and wriggling and her mother’s body curved over him. The hands she released from around her son were warm and soft but she knew at once that her mother was dead. She didn’t know what to do. Gordon was sobbing, the bird screeching. There was no telephone, no way of getting help without leaving the house.

She ran to the end of the road, still clutching the wailing Gordon, to the public telephone outside the Horse and Farrier pub. She rang the doctor but he was out on his calls and she could only leave a message. Re-entering her house was dreadful – seeing the dead body lying so unnaturally, so awkwardly, in the chair. She wished her sisters, Jean and Nan, were with her or that Arthur had come home for his dinner, but it was only half past eleven, another hour to go before he cycled back from the Metal Box factory. But the doctor came quicker than expected, before Arthur arrived. Margaret Ann had died of a heart attack. Dr Honeyman was surprised there had been no definite warning signs, no complaints of breathlessness or acute pains. But this was in character everyone later agreed. Margaret Ann Hind, née Jordan, was brave, she was stoical, she had had a hard life and was used to suffering of every sort.

This was what they all said to each other on that sunny day, the day of the funeral. They sat, the three daughters – Lilian, Jean and Nan – and the two sons-in-law – Arthur and Dave – and Nan’s boyfriend, Jack, and said what a wonderful woman Margaret Ann had been and what a hard life she had had. None of them knew exactly how hard, though they were convinced of its hardness, because Margaret Ann never talked about her background. No one knew where she had been born or brought up. In the Newcastle area, it was believed. She had not liked to be asked and such was the strength of her character and of her dislike of any questioning that nobody’s curiosity ever got the better of them. She was allowed to have had no past until the age of twenty-three when she was quite happy to acknowledge that she had begun work as a domestic servant to the Stephenson family.

A life suspected to have been hard, then, but over now. Her three daughters had wept copiously, even Nan, the youngest, the wild one, the defiant one, the one who had caused her mother most anxiety. Guilt as well as grief hung in the air, the usual guilt feelings of adult children who fear they never expressed their love and gratitude sufficiently to the dead parent. And extra guilt in this instance, the guilt that came from knowing none of them had properly taken their mother into their own homes. Jean had tried. Her mother, while her house was being sold, had come to Motherwell, intending to stay, but she’d been unhappy and returned to Carlisle. Jean worried that she had not tried hard enough to make her mother part of her family, but it had been difficult in a room and kitchen only, with a husband and two children, to give her mother the peace and privacy as well as the warmth she needed. Nan had not even had a home to offer her mother (who didn’t know she was living in sin with Jack in Glasgow). And Lilian, to whom their mother had come after the abortive Scottish trip, worried that she had not urged her mother to make her stay with her permanent and not the temporary thing she spoke of.

So it was a miserable gathering as befitted the occasion. Three daughters, aged thirty-four, thirty-one and twenty-eight, and their three men, all crowded into the front parlour of their mother’s house in Bowman Street from which everything was to be cleared the following day. There had been others present, cousins and friends, but they had all left. They had been Hind relatives, not Jordans, no one from their mother’s side at all, not a single Jordan. Their mother had had friends but no family, a fact well known to them.

It was warm in the parlour, close, being such a hot day. No one had lived in their mother’s house for the last four months. The first sale had fallen through, and the second dragged on and on, and meanwhile their mother had vacated the place and it had not been regularly aired. The blind was down and the thick velour curtains drawn and the house baked in the afternoon heat. There were sighs as they sat in the stifling heat and the gradual removal of hats and gloves, the opening of jackets and blouses – only a discreet button or two but a relief. The men were restless. Jack stood in front of the empty fireplace, legs apart, hands behind his back, immaculate in his elegant suit, lifting himself every now and again on the balls of his feet, eyes only for Nan, the lovely spirited Nan, longing to get her away, hating these rituals and only with difficulty respecting them. Dave was splayed out in an armchair, all six foot of him, neat enough in his best suit but hair rumpled, eyes closed with fatigue (and whisky), thinking only of the few hours left before his next shift. And Arthur, whistling soundlessly, head bowed, was sitting on a stiff-backed chair, dreading Lilian’s sustained grief and wondering why she always had to be twice as upset as anyone else.

Jack looked at his gold watch and said to Nan it was time to leave. Leave in their car. Nobody else in the family had a car, only Jack, flash Jack with his public school education, his southern ways. Nan got up and straightened her beautifully cut skirt and picked up her crocodile-skin handbag and at that moment there was a knock at the door. Quite a timid knock, three gentle-enough taps with the brass knocker in the shape of a lion’s head. More flowers, arriving too late? Nan said she would go, she was going anyway. They heard Nan go to the door and open it and then, indistinctly, another voice speaking words too muffled to be heard in the parlour. Nan came back, looking astonished. ‘It’s a woman,’ she said. ‘She says she’s come to see if there is anything for her.’ The others stared at her. ‘Anything for her?’ echoed Jean. ‘What does she mean, who is she, do you know her?’ But it was Lilian who next went to the door, the ever-polite, grave, eldest daughter.

There was indeed a woman standing at the door. A woman, and behind her a man. Lilian took in the man’s face before the woman’s. She felt she’d seen him, or someone like him, before. A burly fellow with a big moustache. Maybe she’d seen him in the market, maybe he was a butcher. But the woman she had never seen. She was perhaps forty, quite tall, good posture, a square not unattractive face with large brown eyes which seemed both fierce and frightened. ‘Can I help you?’ said Lilian, at her most gracious. ‘I’ve come to see if she left me anything,’ the woman said, and then, seeing Lilian’s bewilderment, ‘in her will.’ ‘You mean,’ said Lilian, ‘my mother’s will?’ ‘Yes,’ said the woman firmly. ‘I’ve come to see if she’s left me anything. I want to know, has her will been read yet?’ ‘My mother’s will?’ repeated Lilian, still dumbfounded by the question, aware of Nan and Jean now behind her in the narrow passage. ‘Why should my mother leave you anything? Who are you?’ ‘I’m her daughter too,’ the woman said.

Lilian, Jean and Nan stood utterly still and stared at this mad creature. Patiently, the woman on the doorstep repeated yet again that she had come to find out if she had been left anything. ‘We’ve just buried our mother,’ said Jean angrily. ‘We don’t know anything about any will.’ ‘I think you should show some respect,’ Nan chimed in. ‘And take yourself off, coming at a time like this, you’ve no manners. Close the door, Lily.’ But Lilian had no chance to do so before the woman burst into tears and turned and ran down the street. The man hesitated, then, before following her, said, ‘It’s right enough. She is her daughter, and if she has been left anything you’d better see she gets it or I’ll set the law on you.’

Shock could not adequately describe the sense of outrage in the parlour. It was a trick. What else could it be but a disgusting attempt to extort money? Jean’s and Nan’s faces were flushed with fury, Lilian’s pale with distress. The men wished they had gone to the door and dealt with this intruder. Dave said it was a damned cheek, Jack said such vermin should be reported to the police, and Arthur said nobody should have talked to the woman in the first place. Then, as Jack and Nan prepared once more to drive off, Jack said, casually, very off-hand, ‘Is there a will, by the way?’ Everyone stared at him. The idea had still not entered their heads. Once he and Nan had gone the others discussed this possibility. ‘When Father died there was no will,’ Lilian said, troubled, ‘and Mother said what a mess there was, with there being no will. I wouldn’t be surprised if she has made one. There was the money from this house to leave and a bit more.’ ‘If there is a will,’ said Dave, ‘it will be with a lawyer.’ ‘Or among her things somewhere,’ Arthur said. ‘Maybe still in the house.’

It was in the house, in the bedroom, in the right-hand small drawer of the chest of drawers. The last will and testament of Margaret Ann Hind, widow, of 14 Peter Street, made on 7 December 1915, three months after her husband died. Lilian found it and at the words on the envelope – My Will – could not at first open it. She handed it to Jean and they both sat down on the bed. ‘Oh God,’ Jean said, ‘suppose…’ ‘No,’ said Lilian, suddenly resolute, ‘not Mother, never. Give it back to me.’ And taking the envelope she opened it and extracted the document inside and quickly scanned it. ‘I knew it was a lie,’ she said triumphantly and passed the will over to her sister. It was unequivocal. It gave and bequeathed all money and possessions to be shared equally between ‘my three daughters, Lilian, Jane and Annie’. No mention whatsoever of any fourth daughter. No need for panic. No need to revise the revered character and conduct of the good, the wise, the kind, the gentle, the generous, the honest, the almost saintly Margaret Ann, their beloved mother.

The autumn of 1946. A dusty church hall in Raffles where twenty-four Brownies are gathered round Brown Owl. Badges have been competed for, beanbags thrown and caught, and now the whole pack is sitting cross-legged on the floor, attentive and a little breathless from all the Wednesday evening excitement. Brown Owl has something special to say. She is talking about history. First she talks about the history of the Girl Guide Movement and how the Brownies came into being, then about how each Brownie has her own little history, special to her. She wants them all to go home and come next week with their own personal family histories. They are to ask their mothers and fathers and grandpas and grandmas and aunts and uncles and anyone at all related to them, ask them to write down when they were born and married and how many children they had, and with all this information they are to make their own family trees. It will be fun, it will be instructive.

One of the Brownies, Margaret, can hardly wait to get home. She is such a keen child, keen at school, keen at Brownies. She goes straight into her home and begins asking for names and dates, pencil poised, sheet of paper ready. Her mother, Lilian, likes to see her children keen to learn and is only too pleased, at first, to cooperate. She gives Margaret her own birth date and her sisters’, their marriage details, and she shows her daughter how to set all this out. She gives her husband Arthur’s dates and those of his parents and his brother’s and his brother’s wife’s, and now the tree is filling up, it is as complete as Lilian can help to make it. But not enough for the keen-eyed Margaret. ‘Your mother’s dates,’ says the child. ‘I’ve got those, but not her mother’s. Who was she?’ ‘We’ve done enough,’ Lilian said, ‘time for bed.’

The following week, Margaret takes her family tree to Brownies. She has more names and dates on her sheet of paper than anyone else, far more, and all so neatly set out. Brown Owl’s brother is with her that evening and is most impressed. He is at university and is studying History and Brown Owl has brought him along to tell the Brownies why history is important and how they are all part of it. Only Margaret pays much attention and Brown Owl’s brother is most gratified. He looks closely at this keen child’s family tree. She points out the gap, where she has been unable to put the names of any maternal great-grandparents. She says her mother doesn’t know who they were. Brown Owl’s brother says if she likes he’ll come home with her and help her mother find out, tell her how she might trace these ancestors. Margaret is thrilled. She dances into the house with Brown Owl’s gawky brother rather sheepishly following her. Lilian is, as usual, polite. She listens to what Brown Owl’s brother has to say about parish registers and so forth, but then becomes distant, rather aloof and cold. She thanks the young man but says that really she would prefer not to carry out any investigation into her mother’s background. A howl of protest from Margaret, but Brown Owl’s brother blushes and leaves.

That is the end of that. For the time being.

Four fragments, full of facts but full of hearsay too, the very stuff of family history. Over and over again we get told stories by our parents and grandparents, and sometimes, if these stories are treated seriously and checked, that is all they turn out to be – stories, unsubstantiated and often downright contradicted by the actual evidence in records. But sometimes beneath the stories lurks the history of more than an ordinary person. Sometimes their story is the story of thousands.

My grandmother’s story seems to me representative in that kind of way. When my mother died, in 1981, I felt freed from the taboo she’d placed on any attempt to unravel the background of Margaret Ann. I could hardly believe that she had never insisted on knowing the identity of her mother’s visitor. Surely, once her immediate distress was over, she could have been asked? But no. My mother was too afraid of the truth. My grandmother’s birth certificate, easy enough to obtain, told a familiar, sad little tale: she was the illegitimate daughter of a servant girl. How pathetic, I thought, that all the mystery was just to hide this banal fact. How ordinary, how disappointing.

But then I began to think about the various stories handed down. Who was the woman in the car, the woman in black, who came to visit my grandmother not long before she died? What news did she bring? And who was that other woman, the one who turned up on the day of my grandmother’s funeral claiming to be her other daughter? Why did my grandmother give the impression she was from the Newcastle area when she was born in Carlisle? No wonder Brown Owl’s brother was shown the door… What puzzles to solve, what secrets to reveal. How little I really knew of my maternal grandmother and how much I suddenly wanted to know, becoming convinced that her history was somehow essential to understand better not simply my own but that of a whole generation of working-class women (and perhaps of a great many middle-class women too, those who may have had the means and education to be independent but who believed their marital duty was to put their family first).



MARGARET ANN 1869–1936










I

I hadn’t known the name of my maternal great-grandmother, but once I did I thought that might be all I ever would manage to find out. Annie Jordan, the nineteen-year-old who gave birth to her illegitimate daughter on Boxing Day 1869, was and remains almost totally obscure. There is her daughter’s birth certificate, some census information and her death certificate and that is that. My grandmother was lucky to be born at all. The local paper in Carlisle was full, at that time, of pitiful stories describing how unmarried servant girls tried first to conceal their pregnancies and then, when their babies were born, delivered without assistance, to kill them.

The same month Annie Jordan gave birth there was an inquest in Carlisle on the body of a baby found ‘in the river Eden, among the branches between the bank of the river and some old weiring. A sod was laid upon it… a woman was seen near the place where the child was found, leaning against some railings, apparently in distress and crying.’ The woman was arrested and when it was discovered she was the mother of the dead baby she was sent to prison for six months. Annie Jordan could so easily have been driven to that solution or else to giving birth in her place of employment, as Sarah Potts did a few weeks later. Her employer ‘had occasion to go into Sarah’s bedroom on Saturday morning and observed marks which induced her to believe a child had been delivered. On searching the room she found the child in the chamber-pot.’ Meanwhile, Sarah was scrubbing the kitchen flagstones, busy pretending nothing had happened.

But young Annie had her child and kept her and had her christened and managed to continue working until in 1871 she became ill and died in five days of ‘epilepsia convulsions, delirium tremens’. She died on 18 December, eight days before her daughter Margaret Ann’s second birthday. On her death certificate she is described as the widow of Joseph Jordan, a butcher, whereas on her daughter’s birth certificate no husband or father of her child is cited. There is no trace of any marriage between Annie and Joseph even though she used his surname (her own was Roscow). Joseph Jordan, whose widow she claimed to be, had died, aged twenty-three, the year before, soon after Margaret Ann’s birth. But though there is no evidence of any marriage, Annie was buried in the same grave as Joseph so their union was recognized by their families.

Pointless to hope to find out any more about poor insignificant Annie, about what she looked like, what kind of personality she had, but not pointless or hopeless trying to piece together the sort of life she led. Carlisle, in 1869, the year Annie gave birth to her only child, was still a small, compact city, easy to imagine and reconstruct. It had always been from Roman times a frontier settlement which, from the reign of Henry I, gradually became a city of importance in the North. A castle was built, a mint established, a priory and cathedral endowed and a town charter granted. But Carlisle’s most important function remained a military one – it was a city constantly filled with soldiers to keep the Scots at bay. The needs of this permanent garrison stimulated trade and by the end of the thirteenth century Carlisle was the centre of the textile trade in Cumberland, so that later, much later, when the industrial revolution began, Carlisle was perfectly placed to become the fourth most important textile-producing city in the whole of England. The medieval city within its walls remained much the same but without them the change was dramatic. Annie Jordan’s short life spanned the middle period of that change.

At the very beginning of the nineteenth century all that caught the eye of anyone standing on the city walls and looking west was a general emptiness, the lack of any significant landmark or building. Coming out of the walled city in this direction a bridge crossed the river Caldew, and then beyond there were meadows and an open stream, Dow Beck, running down the wide, cobbled road, Church Street, which led eventually to the sea. Edward I was carried along it to his lonely death out on Burgh marsh, and Robert the Bruce had made his camp here while he contemplated attacking the castle. The city stopped at Caldew Bridge and what lay beyond was of no importance compared with the lives lived in the elegant houses near the cathedral. This outer district was called Caldewgate, a poor district. Into it the Irish and the Scots flocked, looking for work and, as the century progressed, finding it in the mills which had suddenly mushroomed. The water of the Caldew was found to be excellent for use in the textile trade and by 1850, when Annie Jordan was born, Caldewgate had become an industrial suburb. Now, anyone standing on the city walls and looking west saw huge chimneys and factories and scores of houses crammed together.

There were four printed-cotton works in Caldewgate, a soap boilery, tanneries and breweries, and factories where hats and whips and fish hooks were made. The Dixon family had built a huge factory on the banks of the Caldew (with a chimney said to be the highest in England) and the Carr family, who made biscuits, another on the other side of Caldewgate. But what had changed the area most from being open meadows and marshland to having every square yard filled with houses or factories was the coming of the railway lines running through it. The Carlisle to Newcastle line opened in 1838, the track running under the city walls alongside the river Caldew, and every year after that it seemed another railway company entered Carlisle, and Caldewgate was scarred even more by their lines. The noise and filth of the trains added to the noise and filth of the factories made the district ugly and unhealthy.

Annie Jordan lived in the middle of it. Her mother Mary ran one of the many public houses in Caldewgate. The Carlisle Relief Committee, founded in 1862, worried about the all too visible poverty in the district. Conditions required soup-kitchens to be set up with monotonous regularity to cope with the larger than usual influx of migrant workers. Annie’s mother, as a publican, benefited from these workers – they drank themselves silly. Beer was cheap and so was gin. Every street in Caldewgate had at least one pub – Mary’s was the Royal Oak in Church Street – and all the city’s breweries were in this one district. Annie’s ‘husband’s’ family, the Jordans, were publicans too. Thomas Jordan, Joseph’s father, ran the Queen’s Head, also in Church Street, but he had another trade, he was a butcher. Caldewgate was almost as full of butchers as publicans, with half the animals butchered coming from across the border with Scotland, captured in dawn raids. There was a flat area of land, a sort of island off the banks of the river Eden, called the Sands where cattle and sheep were auctioned. Before the animals were slaughtered the butchers who had bought them would graze them on what was left of Caldewgate’s meadows. Meat was big business. Carlisle was full of meat markets, whole streets given over to different animals. There were other markets – Carlisle was after all a market town even before it became anything else – but nothing compared with the sale of meat. The butchers had rows of lock-up stalls, called shambles, in the area known as Rickergate, where the slaughterhouses and pigsties were mixed in with the houses, making the district even poorer and less salubrious than Caldewgate.

Annie had her baby not in her mother’s pub, nor in the pub where she worked as a domestic servant, but in the house of one of her husband’s family. Straight afterwards she went to live in West Walls – described by one observer as ‘broken down in places and crumbling away and almost disgusting with filth’. She lived at number 19 three months after her daughter’s birth, when she was christened, but by 1871, when there was a census, she was back outside the city walls in Caldewgate, living with her mother and two sisters. When she died at the end of that year she hadn’t moved more than a few hundred yards from where she had been born. The same can still be said for many of the population of Carlisle.

All Annie left behind her was her baby Margaret Ann, aged two. From 1871 to 1893 this baby, my grandmother, disappears from all records. But she, unlike her mother, can be clearly identified and described even if there are gaps, gaps she went to great lengths to keep empty. During her lifetime she managed to conceal everything she wished to conceal. After her death not all her secrets have remained secret.

There is only so much that can be done when trying to find out what happened to an obscure two-year-old child in the late nineteenth century. The records are meagre. School registers rarely survive, if they were kept at all, and school logbooks, though they do contain names of individual pupils, seldom list entire classes. The best bet for this kind of search are census returns, especially if an exact locality is known. But Margaret Ann Jordan, though born in Caldewgate and baptized at St Mary’s, does not exist in the census for 1871, when she would have been sixteen months old (the census was in April). There are four under-two-year-old Margarets in that census for Caldewgate and one Margaret Ann. She is registered as the daughter of Walter and Elizabeth Graham, who lived at 16 Bridge Street, next door to number 18, where Annie, my Margaret Ann’s mother, died. Was her child already living next door with the Grahams and so became part of their family when, a few months later, Annie died? Perfectly possible, even likely, but no proof at all.

In the 1881 census the position is the same: no eleven-year-old Margaret Ann Jordan in Caldewgate or anywhere in Carlisle. In the 1891 census still no Jordan but Margaret Ann Graham turns up as resident servant to the Stephenson family at 4 Paternoster Row, a smart street directly beside the cathedral. This is the family my grandmother said she began working for in 1893 and the house from which she was married in 1899. This, in fact, is where she allowed her own history to begin. How curious that she must therefore have taken over from a young woman her exact age and with her Christian names. Curious, but also acceptable as coincidental. And there is still my grandmother’s only bit of information given to her daughters that she was from the Newcastle area.

One sister, Nan, was still very much alive and alert when my mother died and I began this search. I showed her Margaret Ann’s birth certificate and she was shocked. It wasn’t the proof of Margaret Ann’s illegitimacy which shocked her – though it did – so much as the evidence that she was born in Caldewgate. Nan and her sisters really had believed their mother was from the Newcastle area. But maybe she was. Maybe the infant Margaret Ann was taken to relatives in the Newcastle area and brought up by them, returning to Carlisle only at the age of twenty-two.

Newcastle even then was bigger than Carlisle, but not so large that its census returns are too enormous to search. Plenty of Jordans in the Newcastle area and many of them involved in the pub trade, the same as in Carlisle. But no Margaret Ann Jordan in the whole of the census returns for 1871, 1881, or 1891. Was she concealed at every census? Or simply forgotten about? Possible with a child under two, virtually impossible for a girl of eleven or a woman of twenty-one to be omitted. Was she always travelling during each census? Highly unlikely. Whatever the case, my grandmother, whether living under a different name, or miraculously escaping detection, or being in neither Carlisle nor Newcastle (though when she travelled to Scotland at the age of sixty she said Newcastle was the furthest she’d ever been before), simply disappears for twenty years.

Mothers spend half their time referring to their own childhoods as a point of comparison when bringing up their children, but apparently not a wisp of a memory ever escaped my grandmother’s lips. Nothing. A blank. She was a mother who had had no childhood, or a childhood so unhappy that she wiped it out, leaving only an impression that whatever she had suffered was too awful to remember. Her daughters were afraid of what she suppressed without knowing what it was. They were nervous, agitated, even after she was dead, at the thought of what might be uncovered if their mother’s past was exhumed.

But I am not. I want to know. I have even come to believe I need to know.

The story has to start, for the time being, in 1893 when Margaret Ann acknowledged she was living with the Stephenson family in Paternoster Row. She was only, living there, yards from where her own mother had lived in West Walls when she was baptized, only five minutes’ walk from where she herself was born over the bridge in Caldewgate, but she could have been in a different city so great was the contrast.

She talked freely to her daughters, in later years, about that period and they, my mother’s sisters, especially Nan, were equally free passing the stories on to me. Life in Paternoster Row was literally dominated by the cathedral. Margaret Ann said she loved it, loved coming out of number 4 and looking straight at the splendour of it. Walking down the Row to Abbey Street, she passed the Abbey gateway, leading into the cathedral precinct. The doors were huge and solid, massively thick and iron-studded, with one short ladder hanging either side of them, used by the porter to light the gas lights. There was a right of way through the precinct which she often took for the pleasure of passing so close to the cathedral. It ran alongside the Fratery, with its ivy-covered ancient walls, and she would linger there, listening to the choirboys rehearse, as they did every morning. She would linger again, as she neared the doors of the cathedral, if there was a service on, so that she could hear the chanting and singing and the organ playing, a splendid organ recently renovated and fitted with air pumps driven by a gas engine. It made her happy living so close to the cathedral; feeling its holiness and beauty somehow touched her.

The Stephensons’ house gave her almost the same satisfaction. She liked living there. Number 4 seemed to her exactly what a house should be – not too large, not too forbidding, a family house of the best kind with an elegant but modest appearance. It was only two storeys, built of red brick with pale sandstone dressings round the doorway and with a good slate roof. What she admired most was the doorway with its panelled door and pretty fanlight and its stone columns either side. She thought the one bay window (in Mr and Mrs Stephenson’s bedroom) gave the house a more interesting aspect than the other flat-fronted ones in the Row. Mr Stephenson had told her that when the house was built, only forty years ago in 1855, the workmen had discovered a Roman road running underneath where the cellar was to go. Margaret Ann liked to think about that. She had some sense of the importance of history (even if she denied her own). She often said how exciting she had found living above a Roman road, connected like that to ancient times.

Number 4 Paternoster Row was a smart address lived in by a prosperous family. Mr Henry Stephenson was a glass merchant, head of a firm of glass makers, painters and decorators. His work premises joined on to his house with an arched opening between the two parts. Behind was the warehouse, partially blocking out Tullie House, an elegant seventeenth-century house recently converted into the Carlisle Museum and Library. His wife, Hannah, was ten years younger than him and they had four sons, William, Ernest, Alfred and George, and one daughter, Annie. Looking after them all was Margaret Ann, their resident domestic servant.

It was fortunate Margaret Ann loved the house and its situation, because the work inside it was hard. Four sons, aged eighteen, twelve, nine and seven, when she started work in 1893 (if that was indeed when she did start) and one daughter of fifteen made for heavy work. There were many sheets to be washed and ironed, many plates and knives and forks to clean, many meals to shop for and prepare. But Margaret Ann was supremely capable. She had heard Mrs Stephenson boast she was a gem, a treasure. But she had help. She was not expected to do quite everything herself. The Stephensons also employed a cook who came in every day except Sunday, and two young girls who did menial tasks under Margaret Ann’s supervision (though she sometimes expressed the opinion that they were more trouble than they were worth).

Her wage, her annual wage, was eighteen pounds and her keep. She thought this keep good. She had her own room at the back of the house, above the scullery, overlooking the yard between house and warehouse. It was small but it had a carpet on top of the linoleum, quite a luxury for a servant, a comfortable bed, a wardrobe and a wash-stand, all fitted in somehow. There was a tiny wrought-iron fireplace in which a few coals could be burned during very cold weather (and there was plenty of that). Mrs Stephenson complimented Margaret Ann on how she had managed to make her room pleasant – ‘You have quite a flair,’ she told her and wondered aloud where it had come from. There was little enough scope for ‘flair’, but within the strict limits imposed by the size of the room, and by the amount of furniture, Margaret Ann had demonstrated it. The wallpaper was a heavily embossed cream, and Mrs Stephenson had offered Margaret Ann a pink and blue patterned quilt for her bed and pink and white flowered curtains to cheer things up. The cheering up had been declined. Margaret Ann said she had a crocheted bedcover of her own. It was plain white. And she chose from Mrs Stephenson’s linen cupboard a pair of off-white cotton curtains which had been makeshift ones for Annie’s room until the red velvet pair were ready. The carpet was dark brown so it was a white and cream and brown uncheered-up room except for some artificial flowers, pale lilac, in the white jug on the narrow mantelpiece. The room was simple, quiet, like the servant herself.

Mrs Stephenson’s only criticism of Margaret Ann, or the only one she ever admitted, was that she was not very forthcoming. She realized, she said, that most people would consider this quality an asset in a live-in servant, but she thought Margaret Ann carried quietness too far. She was not sullen, she must not think she was being thought sullen, far from it, she had a lovely smile, often in evidence, but she rarely initiated conversation nor did she seek to prolong those conversations begun by others… To Mrs Stephenson, Margaret Ann’s words were usually considered and few and, quite frankly, it rather hurt her employer, or so she said. She would have wanted her devoted servant to respond more, that was all. Mr Stephenson, hearing this once, had laughed and said that Margaret Ann was too intelligent to go in for gossip (Margaret Ann left the room instantly on hearing this, mortified). Ever afterwards she felt Mrs Stephenson was studying her for visible signs of this intelligence and failing to find it and becoming annoyed with her husband for alleging it was there.

But Annie Stephenson agreed with her father. She adored Margaret Ann, who was not so very much older than herself. She thought her not just intelligent but beautiful, much to Margaret Ann’s embarrassment – she did wish Annie would not say such foolish things and especially not in front of her brothers, who guffawed rudely even though they too liked Margaret Ann and showed it. She knew she was not beautiful. Her hair was an ordinary brown and she wore it in an old-fashioned style. Her face was too square and her jaw too strong for beauty and her figure – well, she would rather not think about it. She was thick-waisted, not tall and slender like Annie. Annie, she knew, was only being kind to make her care less about not being married or having a suitor.

Annie herself, greatly preoccupied with her own chances of matrimony, could never understand why Margaret Ann was not married. Sometimes she asked, as tactfully as possible, if she had turned down offers? Margaret Ann said she had not. She said she had always been too busy to think of suitors and, mercifully, Annie left it at that. And it was true, she worked so hard that all she wanted to do in her spare time was rest in her room or go to church. She rose at six in the morning and was never in bed before midnight. The hardest work was in the morning. She wore a dark blue dress with a grey overall on top, because so much of the morning’s work was, if not dirty, messy. The dress came down to her ankles and underneath she wore thick black stockings and clogs, though not heavy clogs with clinkers. She found clogs more comfortable than shoes. They were better for her feet which often were swollen with all the standing she did. The first thing she did every morning was get the fire going in the kitchen range, thankful one of the girls black-leaded it once a week, a truly filthy job she hated. Then she boiled the kettle, the big iron kettle hanging from a hook above the fire, and began mixing the dough to bake bread for breakfast. Her breath would be coming out mistily all this time and the cold sweeping up her skirt from the stone flags until the fire took a hold. Even then the fire, however fierce, hardly spread its warmth beyond a radius of two feet. It was movement, constant movement, which kept Margaret Ann warm. She was on the go all morning, making porridge, making tea, rushing backwards and forwards to the dining-room laying and clearing the table and carrying heavy trays. Breakfast for a household of seven took two hours from that first descent into the cold kitchen to the last dish emptied and washed. Mrs Stephenson was the only one who did not appear for breakfast. She had it in bed. Margaret Ann was always grateful if Annie took in her mother’s tray and if William, who was very kind, volunteered to carry up the cans of hot water needed for baths. Really, she counted herself fortunate to be servant to such a considerate family.

She felt less fortunate as the morning progressed. There was so much to do, time was her enemy. ‘How’s the enemy?’ she would ask the girls as dinner-time loomed. Dinner was eaten in the middle of the day, at half past twelve. Everyone came home for it. The daily cook shopped for and cooked it, but she needed the two young girls to run around for her, so Margaret Ann managed everything else. She made everyone’s bed, a laborious business with so many blankets and quilts and eiderdowns to shake and spread, and dusted all the furniture, dusted scores of cluttered surfaces and endless mirrors, and then she sorted the washing to be sent out. On Mondays she lifted the carpets and took them into the yard and beat them to expel the dust; on Tuesdays she cleaned the silver; on Wednesdays she ironed, her wrist aching from the weight of the heavy stone iron; on Thursdays she polished every piece of furniture in the over-furnished house; on Fridays she scrubbed the kitchen out before Cook arrived – she hated Fridays; on Saturdays she cleaned the windows, though one of the girls helped. Every morning was always a long morning, what with the essential regular jobs and each day’s particular extra one, and it ended with a gallop, with the serving of dinner.

It always seemed that half this housework was done in semi-darkness, though 4 Paternoster Row was not an especially dark house. There was not much natural light coming through the windows, heavily shrouded in net, and the gas lamps were not lit until late afternoon. Those lamps were the very devil in any case, always needing attention. Hours it took getting them to burn properly, nearly as difficult to manage as oil lamps. There was talk of electricity being installed soon, but there was no Electric Lighting Station in Carlisle yet (it wasn’t constructed until 1899). Margaret Ann was more interested in the thought of Mrs Stephenson purchasing a gas oven. It would be such a blessing, doing away with so much mess. It seemed to her that the two biggest headaches in her working day were dealing with the dirt caused by coal and battling against bugs. Dust from coal spread everywhere and then there was the menace of soot from the chimneys and the filthy ash which had to be cleaned out from the fireplaces. As for bugs, constant vigilance was necessary. The mattresses, the pillows, the carpets, the curtains – they all had to be inspected and treated to keep the bugs at bay. Margaret Ann was exhausted at the end of every morning with the fight against all forms of dirt.

Afternoons were more restful. Cook baked in the afternoons and sometimes she helped her, especially with scones and pastry. Cook had a heavy hand with both, and Margaret Ann a light touch. They baked for tea, high tea as well as afternoon tea, tarts and rock-cakes and several kinds of bread and scones, and the kitchen would suddenly seem a pleasant, warm place. Or Cook would bake on her own while Margaret Ann mended. There was always heaps of mending, stacks of socks to darn and buttons to sew on and even collars to turn (because Mrs Stephenson didn’t believe in throwing a good shirt away just because the collar was worn on the inside). She would have enjoyed the mending more – at least she was sitting down – if Cook hadn’t talked so much. She rambled on in a disjointed way and sometimes she was foul-mouthed which Margaret Ann hated. She was always tempted to leave the kitchen and retreat to her bedroom with the mending, but this would have caused such offence she endured Cook’s bouts of swearing and tried to show her disapproval by her absolute silence. Other afternoons she sorted the larder, tidied drawers and made clothes for Mrs Stephenson. Early on Mrs Stephenson had discovered that her servant could not only darn so that these darns were virtually invisible, but that she could sew beautifully. She even knew how to make paper patterns and cut out material. If Mrs Stephenson could have spared Margaret Ann from her other work she would have had her dressmaking every day, all day.

Tea was at four, just for Mrs Stephenson and Annie together with anyone invited to join them. High tea was for the men, at six, after work and school. The men ate mountains of food, great heaps of Cumberland sausage and eggs and pies and cold meats, followed by scones and cakes, and all of it washed down with gallons of tea. It took a long time to prepare this feast and a long time to clear the debris away and put the kitchen to rights. Cook and the girls would have gone by then and Margaret Ann was responsible. It was well after eight before she was done and free to retire to her room with the eternal mending. That was the best time of day. Sometimes she didn’t go to her room; sometimes she stayed in the kitchen. There was an old but very comfortable armchair there and she’d sit with her feet up and savour the peace. Sometimes Annie would come and talk to her, mostly to complain about trivial things, about being made to go on learning to play the pianoforte, at her age, and about her boredom with Carlisle, with her dull life. Margaret Ann listened but passed no comment, offered no advice. She went to bed around midnight and said her prayers and mostly slept deeply. Mostly, but not all the time. She dreaded having nightmares and crying out in her sleep. Only Annie ever heard her, but by the time she had come to Margaret Ann’s door to inquire what the matter was Margaret Ann was awake and in control of herself.

Nothing, she always said, nothing was the matter. It must have been something she ate. Never, all those years later, when she related this to her daughters, did she give them any clue as to what her nightmares had been about or why she had cried out. And they were stopped from asking her for the usual reason they always gave – ‘she was upset, even remembering’.
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